

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

TEMPLE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL EPISCOPAL CAMPUS

AND

REGISTERED NURSES/PROFESSIONALS UNIT

MARCH 1, 2024 - FEBRUARY 28, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLES		PAGE
ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE 2	PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF AGREEMENT	5
ARTICLE 3	UNION DUES DEDUCTION	6
ARTICLE 4	MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP	9
ARTICLE 5	UNION BUSINESS: UNIT AND GENERAL	
REPRESENTA	ATIVES	10
ARTICLE 6	NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT	12
ARTICLE 7	NO DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 8	PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 9	SENIORITY, LAYOFF AND RECALL	15
ARTICLE 10	PROMOTION AND TRANSFER	
ARTICLE 11	WAGES, SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL AND ON-CALL	PAY 23
ARTICLE 12	HOURS OF WORK	25
ARTICLE 13	OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 14	VACATION, PERSONAL DAYS AND HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 15	SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 16	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 17	PAID LEAVE	
ARTICLE 18	HEALTH/WELFARE	
ARTICLE 19	PENSION PLAN AND TAX DEFERRED ANNUIT	
	Γ	
ARTICLE 20	CONTINUING EDUCATION AND TRAINING	
ARTICLE 21	HEALTH AND SAFETY AND VIOLENCE PREVE	
ARTICLE 22	PERSONNEL PRACTICES	
ARTICLE 23	GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 24	RESIGNATION	
ARTICLE 25	SEPARABILITY	
ARTICLE 26	PAST PRACTICES	
ARTICLE 27	MEET AND DISCUSS	
ARTICLE 28	SUCCESSORSHIP	
ARTICLE 29	DURATION OF AGREEMENT	
APPENDIX B	NON-BENEFIT RN AGREEMENT	
LETTERS OF	AGREEMENT	74

AGREEMENT

Agreement made and entered into this 1st day of November, 2023 by and between TEMPLE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL, EPISCOPAL CAMPUS hereinafter referred to as "Hospital"), located at 100 East Lehigh Avenue, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and the Health Professionals and Allied Employees of Temple University Hospital, Episcopal Campus, (hereinafter referred to as "Union"), with principal offices located at 110 Kinderkamack Road, Emerson, NJ 07630, acting herein on behalf of the employees of Temple University Hospital Episcopal Campus, as hereinafter defined, now employed and hereinafter to be employed and collectively designated as the "Employees."

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Hospital recognizes the Union as the collective bargaining representative for the employees covered by the Agreement as hereinafter provided, and

WHEREAS, it is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto that this Agreement promote and improve mutual interest of the Hospital as well as of its employees and the patients of the Hospital and to avoid interruptions and interferences with the Hospital operations and to set forth herein their Agreement covering rates of pay, hours of work and conditions of employment, and

WHEREAS, it is also the purpose of this Agreement to continue to establish equitable employment conditions and an orderly system of employee/employer relations, to continue to facilitate the solution of mutual problems, and to continue to improve the care of patients.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

Section 1.

- a. The Hospital recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining representative of the employees in the bargaining unit certified by the Pennsylvania Labor Relations Board in Case No. PER-R-98-572-E and PLRB Case No.PERA-R-10-312-E.
- b. The bargaining unit shall consist 1) of all full time and all regular part-time staff registered nurses, social workers, behavioral health therapists, behavioral health therapist coordinators, discharge planner and drug and alcohol counselors who regularly work twenty (20) or more hours per week but less than thirty-five (35)hours per week. Social Service and Discharge Planning Nurses, Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists. Certified Nurse Practitioners. Medical Office Nurses, Organizational Training Development Nurses, Utilization Review Quality Assurance Nurses, Behavioral Health Case Manager, Pool Nurses, part-time nurses working less than twenty (20) hours per week, guards, supervisors, first level supervisors, and confidential employees as defined in Act 195 are excluded.
- c. Effective March 1, 2020 pool social workers and behavioral health therapists, upon completion of their probationary period after 30 days worked within a six (6) month period, shall be considered members of the bargaining unit and covered by the Agreement. Based on Hospital needs, a pool employee must work a minimum of two (2) shifts a month. A pool employee who fails to schedule and work the minimum required shifts for four (4) months in each six (6) month period of the calendar year (January 1st to June 30th and July 1st to December 31st) shall be considered a voluntary resignation. Non-bargaining unit employees shall not be covered by the terms of this Agreement.

d. This Agreement shall not apply to temporary employees or students. A temporary employee is defined as one who is hired for a period of up to three (3) months and is so informed at the time of hire for an employee who is on leave or for a special project. The said three (3) month's period may be extended an additional three (3) months by mutual agreement.

Section 2.

Whenever the word "Employee" is used in this Agreement, it shall be deemed to mean the employees in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement, as defined in Section 1

Section 3.

At the time a new Employee subject to this Agreement is hired, the Hospital shall deliver to said Employee a copy of this collective bargaining agreement. The Local President or designee shall be given an opportunity during the orientation period on work time, if scheduled that day to work to meet with and address new employees for up to one hour. The Hospital shall provide a private location where the Union representative shall meet with the new bargaining unit employee(s). The Hospital shall provide a list of names of individuals expected to be oriented at least 72hrs, excluding weekends, prior to each orientation session and shall supply the schedule of the orientation sessions to the Union at the beginning of each fiscal year.

ARTICLE 2 PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

It is the intention of the parties that this Agreement will establish sound relations between the Hospital and its employees which will promote harmony, genuine cooperation and efficiency, to the end that the employees and the Hospital may mutually benefit; assure a full day's work for a day's pay; and facilitate peaceful adjustment of grievances which may arise from time to time.

The right to manage the business in all respects, to determine policy matters from time to time, and to operate the Hospital and direct the employees, including but not limited to, the right to make and enforce reasonable rules and regulations; the right to hire, promote, transfer within and throughout the Hospital, lay off, suspend or discharge for just cause; the right to assign jobs, to increase, decrease and determine the size and makeup of the working force; the right to schedule the work to be performed, hours, overtime and shifts and to change or reschedule working hours or days; the right to contract out work; and determine (and regulate the use of) technology, equipment, machinery, facilities, materials and supplies and the sources thereof to curtail, suspend or terminate in whole or in any part any department and determine the number location and relocation of the Hospital and establish methods, processes and means of work and the right to establish standards in quantity and quality are rights vested exclusively in the management of the Hospital, subject only to any express limitations contained in this Agreement. These enumerated functions of management are not all-inclusive, but indicate the type of matters or rights which are retained rights of the Hospital.

ARTICLE 3 UNION DUES DEDUCTION

Section 1.

Upon receipt of a signed authorization from an employee, the Hospital shall, pursuant to such authorization, deduct from the wages due said employee each bi-weekly pay period, starting not earlier than the first pay period following the completion of the employee's probationary period, the regular monthly dues, per capita, and initiation fees as fixed by the Union. The initiation fee

shall be paid in two (2) consecutive installments beginning the month following the completion of the probation period. The dues, per capitas and initiation fees shall be remitted to the Union by the 21st day of the succeeding month after such deduction is made, together with an itemized record showing the hourly rate, total earnings, and dues paid by each individual. Such information shall also be made available on computer diskette as per a format to be determined by the parties. Deductions agreed to herein shall be done as long as the Hospital's computer can accommodate the withholding as described.

Section 2.

The Union shall inform the Hospital in writing of the schedule of dues, per capita, and initiation, and shall provide sixty (60) days' notice of any changes thereto.

Effective no later than sixty (60) days after the signing of this Agreement, the dues list shall include active members without dues obligation during the reporting period; the Hospital shall also report terminations and/or resignations from the bargaining unit with the dues report.

Section 3.

- a. All employees who do not become union members upon the expiration of their probationary period, shall, as a condition of employment, pay to the union each month a fair share fee in the amount equal to the regular monthly dues (not including initiation fees, fines, assessments, or any other charges uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership) of the union, less the cost for the previous union fiscal year of its activities or undertakings which were not reasonably employed to implement or effectuate the duties of the union as exclusive bargaining representative.
- b. The Union shall provide Episcopal with the name of each non-member who is obligated to pay a fair share fee, the

amount of the fee that he or she is obligated to pay, and a reasonable schedule for deducting the fair share fee from the salary or wages of each nonmember. Upon receipt of said notice, Episcopal shall deduct the fair share fee in accordance with the schedule, and promptly transmit the amount deducted to the union.

c. As a precondition to the collection of fair share fees, the union shall establish and maintain a full and fair procedure, consistent with constitutional requirements, that provides nonmembers, by way of annual notice, with sufficient information to gauge the propriety of the fee and that responds to challenges by nonmembers to the amount of the fee. The procedure shall provide for an impartial hearing before an arbitrator to resolve disputes regarding the amount of the chargeable fees.

Section 4.

The Hospital shall be relieved from making such check off deductions upon (a) termination of employment, (b) transfer out of the bargaining unit, (c) an authorized unpaid leave of absence as defined herein, (d) revocation of the check off authorization in accordance with the terms of the Agreement or with applicable law or (e) as in accordance with Article 1, Section 1b. Upon the return of an employee from an authorized leave of absence, the Hospital shall immediately resume the obligation of making such deductions. Deductions for employees rehired by the Hospital or reinstated in the Union shall require a new written authorization.

Section 5.

Within thirty (30) calendar days after the close of the first pay period of a new employee who is covered by this Agreement, the Hospital will forward to the Union, Local President, Secretary and Staff representative the employee's name, address, employee identification, classification, status, and unit assignment and phone number.

Section 6.

The Hospital shall, on February 15 and October 15 of each year, provide the Union, Local President, Secretary and Staff Representative with a complete and alphabetized list of bargaining unit employees; including name, address, unit status and classification.

Section 7.

The Union agrees to indemnify the Hospital and hold the Hospital harmless from any and all claims, suits, and judgments against it (including the cost of defending such actions) to the extent such matters are based upon or arise from this Article or Union requests relating to this Article.

Section 8.

Upon receipt of a signed authorization form an employee the Hospital shall pursuant to such authorization deduct from the wages due the employee each pay period a voluntary deduction for the COPE Fund (HPAE Committee on Political Education) in the amount specified by the employee. The total amount deducted from employees for the COPE fund with an itemized list of employees authorizing such deductions and the amounts thereof shall be forwarded to the Union by the fifteenth (15th) day of the month following the deduction. Remittance to the Union of COPE Fund deductions shall be by a separate check and not combined with dues and initiation fees.

ARTICLE 4 MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP

Section 1.

With the exception of pool and part time employees whose bargaining unit status lapses as defined in Article 1 above, all employees who are or shall become members in the Union, shall remain members over the full duration of this Agreement, except an employee who has joined the Union may resign his/her membership therein during the period of fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement. For the purposes of this Article, an Employee shall be considered a member of the Union in good standing if the member timely tenders his or her periodic dues and standard assessments.

Section 2.

An employee who has failed to maintain membership in good standing as required by this Article shall, within twenty (20) calendar days following receipt of a written demand from the Union requesting his/her discharge, be discharged if during such period, the required dues and standard assessments have not been tendered.

ARTICLE 5 UNION BUSINESS: UNIT AND GENERAL REPRESENTATIVES

Section 1.

The Union shall notify the Hospital in writing, of its unit representatives, who are authorized to deal with the Hospital regarding grievances arising out of this Agreement. Union officers and the Chairperson of the grievance committee are authorized to discharge the Union's duties as the collective bargaining representative. The Union shall notify the Hospital in writing of said representatives' designation and authority and any change in either.

Section 2.

No employee shall engage in any Union activity, including the distribution of literature in a patient care area, which can interfere with the performance of work during the employees working time or in working areas at any time.

Section 3.

A Staff representative of the Union will request permission to enter the premises of the Hospital for the purpose of investigating grievances and ascertaining whether the provisions of this Agreement are being complied with, provided that there is no interference with patient care or interruption of work and administration of the Hospital, and the Staff Representative has called a day in advance to request entry. Permission shall not be unreasonably denied. There shall be no entry to patient care areas except as may be provided by law, or otherwise mutually agreed to. A failure to follow the procedure herein shall result in the Staff Representative being barred from the premises in the future.

Section 4.

The Hospital shall assign to the Union one (1) bulletin board outside the nursing office, one (1) bulletin board located near the cafeteria and one (1) bulletin board in the connecting corridor between the Potter Morris and Centennial building on which to post official Union information and notices which shall be dated and signed by the official requesting posting. Posting and notices shall be placed nowhere else in the Hospital. Postings shall not be "defamatory", nor call for an action, which would cause the Hospital interference with its patient care or other work, and "Good Judgment" shall be exercised in terms of what is posted. The Hospital shall provide a locked mailbox, which will be clearly identifiable to be located in the nursing office.

Section 5.

In each year of the contract, Local Union Officers may request up to a total of fifteen (15) unpaid days off collectively in order to attend Union conventions, conferences and training.

Notice of such days shall be provided to the Hospital at least sixty (60) days unless infeasible, but in no event less than thirty (30) days in advance and must be agreed to by management. Agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE 6 NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

Section 1.

During this Agreement, the Union, its officers, agents, representatives and members, shall not in any way, directly or indirectly, authorize, assist, encourage, participate in or sanction any strike, sit-down, slow-down, cessation, stoppage or picketing, where the object of such picketing is to cause any employee of the Hospital to strike, slow-down, cease, stop or interrupt his or her work or otherwise boycott, or otherwise interfere with the operations of the Hospital or to cause an employee to strike, slow-down, cease providing services to, or interrupting or interfere with the operations of the Hospital or any other Temple affiliated Hospital, medical center, nursing home, or any other educational institution or other Temple facility.

Section 2.

The Union, its officers, agents, representatives and members, shall not in any way, directly or indirectly authorize, assist, encourage, participate in or sanction any picketing (as defined in Section 1) strike, sit-down, slow-down, cessation, stoppage or interruption of work, boycott or interference with the

operations of any other Temple affiliated Hospital, medical center, nursing home or any other educational institution or other Temple facility, where such picketing, strike, sit-down, slow-down, cessation or stoppage or interruption of work, boycott or interference with the operations is in violation of a collective bargaining agreement covering the employees of the other Temple facility or is otherwise illegal.

Section 3.

In addition to any other liability, remedy or right provided by applicable law or statue, should a picket (as defined in Section 1) strike, sit-down, sit-in, slow-down, cessation or stoppage or interruption of work, boycott, or other interference with the operations of the Hospital or any other Temple affiliated Hospital, medical center, nursing home, or any educational institution during the term of this Agreement occur, the Union, within twenty-four (24) hours of a request by the Hospital, shall:

- a. Publicly disavow such action by the employees.
- b. Advise the Office of Labor Relations of Temple and Human Resources Department of the Hospital in writing that such action by employees has not been called or sanctioned by the Union.
- c. Notify employees of its disapproval of such action and instruct such employees to cease such action and return to work immediately.
- d. Post notices at the Union Bulletin Board advising that it disapproves such action, and instructing employees to return to work immediately.

Section 4.

The Hospital will not lock out employees during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 7 NO DISCRIMINATION

Neither the Hospital nor the Union shall discriminate against or in favor of any employee on account of race, color, creed, national origin, political belief, sex, age, sexual orientation, veteran status, union membership or non-membership, gender identity or a disabled person who with reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the job or activity in question. The Hospital and the Union will cooperate in the effectuation of the TUHS Affirmative Action Program.

ARTICLE 8 PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

Section 1.

Newly hired employees shall be considered probationary for a period of ninety (90) calendar days from the date of employment, excluding time lost for sickness and other leaves of absence. Benefits eligibility will continue as heretofore. The Hospital, with the consent of the Union, may extend the probationary period of any employee for an additional thirty (30) calendar days. The termination or suspension of any probationary employee by the Hospital shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this agreement. Newly hired social workers, behavioral health therapist and behavioral health therapist coordinators pool and part time hired less than twenty hours per week shall serve a probationary period of five hundred and twenty (520) hours worked.

ARTICLE 9 SENIORITY, LAYOFF AND RECALL

Section 1. Definition

- a. Temple University System ("System") Seniority is defined as the length of time an employee has been employed by the System since his/her last date of hire as an employee. When two or more employees are hired on the same day, seniority shall be based upon the "Alpha sequence" of their surnames, as of their date of hire.
- b. Bargaining unit seniority is defined as the length of continuous service with the employer from the date of last hiring in any full or part time bargaining unit position in his/her specific job classification. (A change in job classification will result in a new bargaining unit seniority date.) For employees hired after ratification of this agreement, bargaining unit seniority shall be defined as, and start on, the date on which an employee is hired into a bargaining unit position within that job classification. When two or more employees are hired on the same day, seniority shall be based upon the "Alpha sequence" of the surnames, as of their date of hire.
- c. In the event the tie involves any former NEH employees hired at Episcopal Campus during the NEH transition, the original NEH hire date will be used as the tie breaker.
- d. Employees who were transferred to the Episcopal Campus from Neumann or Temple University Hospital as a result of the transfer of Psychiatric Services shall have their original Neumann or Temple University Hospital dates of hire used for layoff and recall purposes.
- e. Unit seniority is defined as the length of time an employee has worked on the unit.

Section 2. Accrual

- a. An employee's seniority shall commence after the completion of his/her probationary period and shall be retroactive to the start of his/her probationary period.
- b. The Hospital's seniority shall accrue: (1) during an authorized leave of absence with pay; (2) during an authorized leave of absence without pay because of personal illness or accident for a period of time not to exceed the lesser of twelve (12) months or an employee's length of service; (3) during military or FMLA Leave as provided by Federal Law.
- c. An employee will not accrue, but will not lose Hospital seniority: (1) during an authorized leave of absence without pay except as provided above; (2) during a layoff not in excess of the lesser of twelve (12) months or the length of employee's service with the Hospital and (3) during any period in which an employee is employed in a part time less than twenty (20) hours per week or pool position

Section 3. Loss of Seniority

An employee shall suffer loss of seniority when he/she:

- a. Voluntarily terminates his/her employment;
- b. Is discharged for just cause;
- c. Willfully exceeds the length, or violates the purpose, of an authorized leave of absence;
- d. Is laid off for a period of twelve (12) months or the length of the employee's service with the Hospital, whichever is less.
- e. Fails to report in accordance with a notice for recall from layoff within seventy-two (72) hours of the time specified in notice sent by certified mail to the last address furnished to the Hospital by the employee. The Hospital shall send a copy of the notification to the Union.

f. An absence from work for two (2) consecutive workdays without notice or permission shall be deemed a voluntary resignation.

Section 4. Layoff

- a. In the event of a layoff in a unit, temporary employees shall be laid off first, the probationary employees before either regular full-time or part-time employees. Layoffs will occur on the basis of their bargaining unit seniority. In the event of a layoff in the Social Work Department or in the Behavioral Health Therapy Department, temporary employees shall be laid off first, then probationary employees before either full-time or regular part-time employees. Full time and regular part time employees with the least department seniority shall be laid off first.
- b. In the event a full-time or part-time, permanent, non-probationary employee is scheduled to be laid off from a unit, he/she may displace another employee within the department on the basis of bargaining unit seniority, provided he/she is qualified to perform said job. The immediate supervisor shall determine the employee's acceptability during a fourteen (14) day orientation/evaluation period. The Departments are as follows:
 - 1. Medical/Surgical Unit
 - 2. ER
 - 3. Crisis Response Center
 - 4. Psychiatric Inpatient Units
 - 5. Endoscopy
 - 6. Outpatient Chemotherapy
 - 7. Social Work Department
 - 8. Behavioral Health Therapy

In the event a full time or regular part time, permanent, non – probationary employee is scheduled to be laid off form the Social Work or the Recreational Therapy Department, he/she may displace another employee within the department on the basis of department seniority, provided he /she is qualified to

perform said job. The immediate supervisor shall determine the employee's acceptability during a fourteen (14) day orientation/evaluation period.

c. In the event any registered nurse who is scheduled to be laid off cannot displace another employee within the department, he/she will have one opportunity to displace a junior registered nurse in a job they previously held, provided the employee has maintained current competencies in the former position. The supervisor shall determine the employee's acceptability during a fourteen (14) day evaluation period. That displaced employee shall be laid off.

In the event an employee from the Social Work or the Recreational Therapy Department who is scheduled to be laid off cannot displace another employee with the department, he/she will have one opportunity to displace a less senior bargaining unit employee in a job within this bargaining unit they previously held, provided the employee has maintained current competencies in the former position. The supervisor shall determine the employees' acceptability during a fourteen (14) day evaluation period. The displaced employee shall be laid off.

- d. It is recognized that an employee may be retained due to special training, knowledge or ability who has less seniority than one who is to be laid off. If this occurs the Hospital will state the reason therefore in writing to the Union and the affected employee. Such special training, knowledge or ability must be necessary to the performance of the job, and must not be obtainable by the more senior employee within a two-week period of on the job training and orientation.
- e. Employees scheduled to be laid off shall be entitled to three (3) weeks' notice or pay in lieu thereof. Such notice shall also be given to the Union no later than it is provided to the employees. The Hospital shall meet and discuss on such layoffs in advance of the initiation of said layoff, when possible.

- f. In the event an employee is scheduled to be laid off from a department, he/she may bid for an open position and shall be given priority for such position before transfers of employees not facing layoff.
- g. Employees who are laid off may exercise the option of entering the pool. The Hospital will make an effort to utilize laid off employees for pool assignments when possible.
- h. In the event that the Hospital closes a unit or discontinues a service, employees subject to layoff shall be given the opportunity to apply for any open position for which they are qualified. The provisions of this Article and Article 10 shall apply, except that the Hospital shall provide training, if necessary, in core competencies for a period of up to thirty (30) days.

Section 5. Recall from Lay-Off

- a. In the event an employee is laid off, he/she shall have recall rights for a period not to exceed twelve (12) consecutive months or the length of an employee's service, whichever is less.
- b. Employees shall be recalled in order of seniority to vacant positions within their department. If the vacant position is the same hours and shift, as the position from which they were laid off and the employee refuses, he/she will be removed from the recall list. If the vacant position is not equivalent and the employee refuses, he/she will be returned to the recall list, however, such employee shall forfeit recall rights for any positions for which he/she has declined and the Hospital will have no obligation to offer this employee positions not equivalent to their original position.

If a position comes open in another department, employees will be recalled in reverse order of lay-off to other open positions with the following provisions: (a) employees may not upgrade from the recall list (higher rate job or part-time to full-time); (b) the employee must have the qualifications to perform the open position. The hiring supervisor shall determine the employee's acceptability for the position during the applicable probationary period for a newly hired employee; if the employee is not acceptable he/she shall be returned to the recall list; (c) employees must accept any position for which they are recalled so long as the position is the same number of hours worked (full-time or parttime) and shift or they shall be removed from the recall list; (d) when probationary employees are laid off they have no recall rights.

Section 6.

Any employee on the recall list will be made aware of any comparable vacancies with the Temple University Health System

(TUHS). The Human Resources Department will assist the employees in the application and interview process.

ARTICLE 10 PROMOTION AND TRANSFER

Section 1.

- a. When a promotional/transfer vacancy in a bargaining unit job occurs, the Hospital will post the opening for seven (7) days, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays.
- b. All bids must be submitted in person, and in writing, to Human Resources or on-line within the seven (7) day period. The Hospital will also consider "file bids" for a specific position, which have been submitted to Human Resources within six months prior to the posting.
- c. When a promotional/transfer opportunity occurs, employees shall be considered on the following basis:
 - 1. Ability to perform the job.

- 2. Satisfactory work record, that is, no active discipline of written warning or higher.
- 3. Approval of the hiring supervisor. Supervisors shall not exercise such discretion in an arbitrary or capricious manner.
 - 4. Finally, on the basis of bargaining unit seniority.
 - d. When a position becomes open on a unit, the position will be awarded to the most senior bidder from the unit who is bidding for a shift change, provided the employee possesses the skill and ability to perform the job.

Section 2.

- a. An employee who is promoted/transferred shall serve ninety (90) days in an evaluation period on the new job. If he/she is removed from the new job during said period, he/she will be returned to his/her former position if vacant, or to a comparable bargaining unit position of equal or lesser grade without loss of seniority or other benefits previously earned. If no position is open, the employee shall be placed on the recall list.
- b. An employee who is promoted/transferred who is disciplined or discharged during the evaluation period for disciplinary reasons may utilize the Grievance and Arbitration provisions as outlined in Article 23.

Section 3.

Any employee selected by the Hospital for a promotion outside the bargaining unit may be returned at the employee's option within ninety (90) calendar days to his/her former position if vacant or to a comparable bargaining unit position of equal or lesser grade without loss of seniority or other service benefits. At the option of the Hospital, in its discretion, an employee may be returned to his/her former position if vacant or to a comparable bargaining unit position of equal or lesser grade without loss of seniority or other benefits previously earned in the bargaining unit. If no position is open, then the employee shall be placed on the recall list.

Section 4.

- a. Vacant or new bargaining unit positions will not be filled by non-bargaining unit candidates until such time as the job has been posted, and internal candidates have been considered. Nothing in the above shall limit the Hospital's right to hire from the outside.
- b. The internal applicants who meet the unit specific requirements shall be granted an interview.

Section 5.

Upon accepting the awarded position, the successful applicant may elect to return to his/her former position if vacant within fourteen (14) calendar days from the first day in the new position. Such employee shall not be permitted to utilize this election with regards to any subsequent bid within the next 12 months.

Section 6.

Employees may not bid to transfer to another position before working six (6) months in their current position except in the case where an employee has accepted a part time position and a full time position becomes available in the same department or if the employee has received a written warning or above within twelve (12) months of the job bid opportunity,. Newly hired employees shall not be permitted to bid for any position until they have completed six (6) months of service.

Section 7.

Whenever a job within the bargaining unit is posted by the Hospital, the posting shall be electronically sent to the President of the Local within forty eight (48) hours.

ARTICLE 11 WAGES, SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL AND ON-CALL PAY

Section 1. Wages

- a. Effective the first full pay period in which March 1ST 2024 falls, all employees shall receive a two and one-half percent (2.50%) across the board adjustment. The pay rates will also be adjusted by two and one half percent (2.50%) as listed in Appendix and A-1.
- b. Effective the first full pay period in which March $1^{\rm ST}$ 2025 falls, all employees shall receive a two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) across the board adjustment. The pay rates will also be adjusted by two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) as listed in Appendix A and A-1.
- c. Effective the first full pay period in which March 1ST 2026 falls, all employees shall receive a three percent (3.00%) across the board adjustment. The pay rates will also be adjusted by a three percent (3.00%) as listed in Appendix A and A-1.
- d. The Non-benefit RN shall be paid in accordance with Appendix B effective the first full pay period of March each year.

Section 2. Shift Differential

23

- a. Employees working on a shift, which begins on or after 12:00 noon and before 5:00 a.m., shall be paid a shift differential of ten percent (10%) of his/her hourly base rate. Employees working flex shifts of ten (10) hours or more shall receive shift differential for shifts beginning on or after 11:00 A.M. A shift differential shall not be paid when employees are authorized to exchange shifts temporarily for personal reasons.
- b. A shift differential shall not be gained or lost as a result of an extension of a shift caused by overtime.
- c. For full-time and part-time registered nurses regularly scheduled on evenings, nights or weekends, shift differential is included in payment for vacation and personal time and is included in the calculation of overtime payments.

Section 3. Weekend Differential

Nurses shall receive a weekend differential of three dollars (\$3.00) per hour for all hours worked between 11 p.m. on Friday and 7:30 a.m. on Monday.

Effective the first full pay period of the second year of the contract: The professionals shall receive a weekend differential of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour for all hours worked between 11pm on Friday and 7:30 am on Monday.

Effective the first full pay period of the third year of the contract: The professionals shall receive a weekend differential of three dollars (\$3.00) per hour for all hours worked between 11pm on Friday and 7:30 am on Monday. Section 4. Charge Nurse Differential

a. When bargaining unit nurses are assigned as charge nurses they shall receive a charge nurse differential of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour on top of their hourly rate.

- b. Effective the first full pay period of the second year of the contract when bargaining unit nurses are assigned as charge nurses they shall receive a charge nurse differential of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour on top of their hourly rate.
- c. Effective the first full pay period of the third year of the contract, when bargaining unit nurses are assigned as charge nurses they shall receive a charge nurse differential of two dollar (\$2.00) per hour on top of their hourly rate.
- d. The Charge Nurse assignment shall be equitably distributed whenever practical, by bargaining unit seniority on a rotating basis, for those nurses who have completed the charge nurse orientation program. When necessary management may assign charge nurse responsibility to experienced nurses who have not yet completed the program. A charge nurse assigned responsibilities under this section may not refuse such responsibility.
- e. The Episcopal Campus Educators shall develop a Charge Nurse Orientation Program for the Episcopal Campus Charge Nurses. The development of the Charge Nurse Orientation Program shall be completed and implemented within six (6) months of the ratification of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12 HOURS OF WORK

Section 1.

- a. The regular workweek for all full time employees shall not exceed forty (40) hours. Nothing herein contained shall be considered a guarantee of work. The work week begins at 12:01 a.m. Sunday.
- b. The start of the shift shall determine the day of the shift and the day shall end twenty-four (24) hours later.

Section 2.

- a. If an employee reports for work on his/her scheduled shift and no work is available for him/her, he/she shall receive four (4) hours of pay at his/her regular rate of pay; provided, however, that if the employee has been notified not to report at least two (2) hours in advance of his/her scheduled starting time the employee shall not receive said reporting pay.
- b. When there is a need to reduce the workforce; (a) agency/travelers (b) overtime, (c) pool/per diem staff will be canceled before full-time or part-time regularly scheduled hours, whenever practical. The parties agree that the intent of this language is to require cancellation of additional assigned hours before cancellation of a regular pattern of non-overtime hours, whether for pool, part-time or full-time staff, with overtime cancelled first and additional pool hours cancelled before additional part-time hours. Employees cancelled on regularly scheduled shifts will be cancelled in reverse order of bargaining unit seniority on their unit on a rotating basis. When subject to cancellation, employees may elect to take such time without pay. Pay or time off shall not exceed scheduled hours for that day.
- c. For the purposes of the foregoing, an employee shall be deemed to have been notified by the Hospital, if the Hospital, by the designated advance time has telephoned to, and left a message not to report at, the telephone number supplied to the Hospital by the employee for this purpose.
- d. In the event of strikes, stoppages in connection with labor disputes, breakdowns of equipment, fire, flood, or acts of God shall interfere with work being provided, the above provisions shall not apply.

Section 3.

- a. Work schedules showing the employee shifts, work days, and hours shall be posted at least two (2) weeks in advance, shall not be posted for a period of less than four (4) or greater than six (6) weeks, and shall not be varied except for emergencies or by mutual agreement by the employer and the employee. Available extra shifts shall be posted on the unit at the same time the schedule is posted and as additional shifts become available thereafter. Once posted schedules shall not be changed to avoid the payment of overtime. Employees within a unit may exchange shifts within a posted schedule with the agreement of the Nurse Manager as long as it does not result in overtime payment. Such exchange will not be unreasonably denied.
- b. An employee may request time off after a posted schedule. In the event a request for the time off is denied, an employee who then secures their own coverage will not be denied the time so long as the replacement has equivalent skills and qualifications, does not result in overtime payment and is approved by the Nurse Manager. Such approval will not be unreasonably denied.
- c. Open shifts after scheduling will be distributed equitably in accordance with the following order of priority among employees who have expressed interest:
 - 1. Regular part time employees who have expressed interest will be assigned up to twelve (12) additional hours per week.
 - 2. If additional shifts remain, the manager will approve additional hours on an equitable basis among full-time, part-time and pool employees

Section 4.

27

In the event of a change in starting and ending times of a shift or duration of shift or weekend assignment, the Hospital will meet and discuss with the Union in advance of such change.

Section 5.

Employees are entitled to have two (2) fifteen (15) minute breaks each eight (8) hour workday when department staffing permits. Employees working twelve (12) hour shifts shall be permitted to take three (3) such breaks. Breaks will be scheduled by the Department Head or designee at the convenience of the department.

Section 6.

Employees will be entitled to a thirty (30) minute unpaid meal break for a shift of eight (8) hours or more. The Union recognizes that meal breaks may not always be possible due to patient needs, however, the Hospital will make its best efforts to schedule staff so that meal break times will be respected. If circumstances prevent an employee from taking the meal break, the employee shall be paid for the break at the appropriate rate of pay.

Section 7.

Weekend and holiday shifts will be equitably distributed.

Employees scheduled to work every other weekend or more often, may request three weekend days off annually except during the period of December 20 to January 3.

Requests for the period between Memorial Day and Labor Day must be submitted by April 1 and will be responded to by May 1. For other periods, the Employer will respond within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of the submission.

Employees who have an established pattern of working more than eighty (80) weekend shifts during the preceding two (2) calendar years, shall receive preferential consideration for requests for weekend time off, subject to the provisions of Article 14, Section 8. This provision shall not apply to the period between December 20 to January 3.

Section 8.

The Hospital may require all employees hired for day shift positions to rotate to other shifts as needed. It is not intended routinely to rotate shifts of employees. The purpose of this section is to advise and ensure that in the event the Hospital cannot fill shifts by volunteers, employees may be assigned on an equitable basis.

Section 9.

The Hospital shall attempt to reassign nurses to units similar to that in which the employees are normally scheduled to work. Employees will be expected to perform work in accordance with their capabilities. If the RN believes the assignment is beyond his/her capabilities, he/she shall inform the supervisor of this and the reason for the belief.

Section 10.

The Hospital will maintain current practice with regards to charge nurse assignment in the ED. It is the intent of the parties that patient assignments are minimized or avoided with regards to the ED charge nurses, except when patient care or scheduling issues require otherwise.

ARTICLE 13 OVERTIME

Section 1.

- a. Employees shall be paid one and one-half (1-1/2) times their regular rate of pay for all authorized time worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- b. Scheduled holiday and vacation hours shall be considered as time worked for the purpose of computing overtime. Sick time and unscheduled vacation or holidays shall not count as hours worked for the purpose of computing overtime.

Section 2.

- a. Employees shall be required to work a reasonable amount of overtime when assigned for the proper administration of the Hospital.
- b. Overtime will not extend beyond sixteen (16) consecutive hours, except in cases of emergency circumstances, in such cases, the hospital shall comply with TUHS Mandated Extra Work Policy.
- c. In the event a shift becomes available due to a call-out, the additional hours will be made available to a qualified employee on the out-going shift or to a qualified employee who indicated a willingness to work.

Section 3.

On an equitable basis, the Hospital shall make available overtime hours, including pre-scheduled overtime among qualified employees.

a. When the need for overtime arises, the Department manager will attempt to recruit volunteers for such overtime.

- b. In an emergency, the Hospital will contact employees to solicit volunteers for additional staffing, informing them of the emergent need to provide patient care.
- c. An employee's normal shift may be extended in the event of an emergency after the Hospital first seeks volunteers from among qualified employees on duty. When such extensions are required, employees will be required to work in order of reverse Bargaining Unit seniority on a rotating basis, among the staff working on the affected unit.

When the need for overtime arises and no volunteers are available, and an employee is required to stay past the scheduled quitting time, upon request the Hospital shall provide to the Union the time the need became known and a list of the employees and/or pool staff contacted, with the time of each contact and the response.

Whenever possible, the affected employee will be alerted by management a minimum of two (2) hours of a potential requirement for an employee to remain on duty past his/her quitting time.

- d. Employees required to remain past quitting time and work for more than twelve (12) consecutive hours shall be entitled to a meal voucher.
- e. In the Emergency Department, the employer shall generate an accurate, clearly written report showing how overtime hours were distributed. The report will include the name of all person (s) signing up for OT, the date the availability was made and the date the availability was approved for each available shift. The report shall be given to the Local President two weeks after the start of the schedule.

Section 4.

There shall be no pyramiding of overtime and /or premium pay.

Section 5.

Employees may cancel prescheduled overtime by providing no less than forty-eight (48) hours notice to the Nursing Administration Office without being charged an occurrence under the Attendance and Lateness Policy which may be revised by TUHS from time to time.

ARTICLE 14 VACATION, PERSONAL DAYS AND HOLIDAYS

Section 1.

a. Full and part time employees begin accruing vacation on a pay period basis beginning the first pay period following employment. Vacation shall be earned as follows:

Length of Service	Annual Accrual
Less than 8years	120 hours
8 years & above	160 hours

Refer to Appendix C

Employees who are earning vacation in excess of the above as of January 1, 2003 shall retain their current vacation accrual.

Section 2.

Part time and full time employees working less than forty (40) hours per week will receive pro-rata vacation. Employees may not accrue more than one and one-half times the employee's annual vacation entitlement.

Part-time employees covered by this agreement shall be eligible on a pro-rata basis for holidays, vacation, paid sick leave, funeral leave and jury duty.

Section 3.

Employees will be paid for vacation at the employee's regular rate of pay. New employees will be eligible to utilize accrued vacation after completion of probation. When an employee is on a leave of absence, vacation will accrue only during a period of paid leave, but will not be credited or available for use until the employee returns from leave.

Section 4.

Employees may not normally select more than two (2) weeks of vacation time during the prime vacation period between Memorial Day and Labor Day. Requests for summer vacation will be submitted by April 1st of each year. Response to such vacation requests will be provided by May 1st. Requests for summer vacations submitted after April 1st shall be granted on a first come first serve basis. Employees may not select vacation time during the period of December 20th through January 3rd.

The Hospital shall take into account past practices in vacation requests and endeavor or make available maximum opportunity for peak summer scheduled vacation. Employees scheduled for vacation will not be required to find replacements for weekend coverage and will not be required to make up the weekend.

Section 5.

No part of any employee's vacation schedule may be charged to sick leave.

Section 6.

Whenever requests are submitted for the same vacation period on the same day, preference will be granted on the basis of bargaining unit seniority. All timely requests for summer vacation shall be considered to have been submitted on April 1st.

Section 7.

Vacation requests for other periods or block time (one week or more) shall be dealt with on a first come first serve basis. Employees submitting requests shall receive a response within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date of the receipt of the submission

Section 8.

Employees may request vacation. The granting of vacation requests are subject to patient care and operational needs. Requests shall not be unreasonably denied. Employees may not take vacation without Hospital approval.

Requests for a future vacation based on sufficient anticipated vacation accrual as of the time of the vacation shall not be denied based on the lack of vacation time accrued as of the date of the request. Employees may not schedule vacation for a date when they will not have accrued time.

Section 9

Approved vacation requests of employees who transfer between units will be honored whenever possible; however, an employee who transfers into a department after April 1st selection period may not bump another employee within that functional unit who has already chosen their vacation period. Employees will be advised prior to transfer whether their existing vacation request can be honored.

Section 10.

Full-time employees who have completed thirty (30) days of employment shall be entitled to six (6) holidays payable at eight (8) hours per day. Holidays that fall on a Saturday or Sunday will be observed on that day. These holidays shall include the following:

New Year's Day	Independence Day
Thanksgiving Day	Memorial Day
Labor Day	Christmas Day
Juneteenth	

Section 11.

a. Effective July 1st of each year full-time employees who have completed at least thirty (30) days of employment shall receive forty (40) hours of personal holiday time. Newly hired employees shall be entitled to personal holidays after thirty (30) days of service as follows:

Date of Hire:	Number of Hours:
July, August, September	40
October, November, December	32
January, February, March	24
April, May, June	0

- b. A Personal day shall be taken at a mutually agreeable time, and shall be requested at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance. In the event of an emergency, a request with less than forty-eight (48) hours notice may be given.
- c. Employees may not carry over personal days from a fiscal year to year.

Section 12.

Recognizing that the Hospital works every day of the year and that it is not possible for all employees to be off on the same day, the Hospital shall have the right, to require any employee to work on any of the holidays specified. However, the Hospital will distribute holidays off on an equitable basis. Employees working in Departments which are closed on the Friday after Thanksgiving and/or Christmas Eve shall be required to use personal time or vacation time in order to be paid for the day.

Section 13.

Employees may be requested to work up to three (3) holidays per year. No employee shall be required to work the same holiday for two (2) consecutive years. One of the requested holidays to work shall include either Christmas or New Year's. In the event additional staff who have also been scheduled to work are released for the Christmas or New Year's holiday, they shall be considered to have worked for the purpose of the holiday rotation.

Section 14.

In order to be eligible for holiday benefits, an employee must have worked the last scheduled work day before and the first scheduled workday after the holiday, except in the case of accident or illness preventing the employee from working as evidenced by an approved FMLA or an approved Worker's Compensation Claim. An employee must be in an active pay status during the pay period in order to receive holiday pay. An employee who fails to report to work on the holiday when scheduled to work shall not receive pay for the holiday.

Section 15.

In the event a full-time employee is scheduled to work on one of the holidays set forth in Section 10 above he/she will be paid one and a half $(1 \frac{1}{2})$ times the base rate of pay for hours worked on the holiday. An employee shall receive an additional eight (8)

hours off to be used within thirty (30) days of the holiday. Employees scheduled to work twelve (12) hours on a holiday will receive an additional twelve (12) hours off to be used within thirty (30) days of the holiday. Holiday time off not scheduled within the thirty (30) day period shall be paid at straight time pay.

Section 16.

If one of the holiday's falls on an employee's regularly scheduled day off, or vacation, he/she shall receive an additional eight (8) hours off at the regular rate of pay within thirty (30) days of the holiday or an additional eight (8) hours pay. Holiday time not scheduled within the thirty (30) day period shall be paid at straight time pay.

Section 17.

Part-time employees shall receive pro-rata holidays. Part time nurses scheduled to work twelve (12) hours on a holiday will receive an additional (6) six hours off to be used within thirty (30) days of the holiday. Part time employees scheduled to work (8) eight hours on a holiday will receive an additional four (4) hours off to be used with thirty days of the holiday.

ARTICLE 15 SICK LEAVE

Section 1. Entitlement and Amount

a. Full-time employees shall annually accrue eighty (80) hours of sick time on a per pay period basis without maximum. Employees may use accumulated sick leave for the employee's own illness or injury. Employees may not use paid sick leave to cover absences due to a work related illness or injury suffered at the Hospital or any other place of employment if such absence is compensated under Workers' Compensation.

- b. In addition, employees may not use sick leave to cover absences, which are covered under the Hospital's disability insurance plan.
- c. Full time employees working less than forty hours per week and part-time employees shall earn pro-rata sick leave.
- d. Sick leave shall be paid at the employee's base rate of pay.

Section 2. Notification, Restrictions, and Proof of Illness

a. Notification by the employee to the Hospital with respect to the use of a sick day, shall be as follows:

2	hours	Day Shift
4	hours	Evening Shift
4	hours	Night Shift

- b. An employee will be required to provide a physician's note for absences of three (3) days or greater. Such certification shall include the nature of the illness, dates of treatment, and ability to return to work without limitation or hazard to patients. The Hospital may also require an employee to submit to a medical examination by the Hospital's Employee Health Physician prior to being permitted to return to work.
- c. It is acknowledged by the parties that sick leave is for illness and no other purpose. Unscheduled absences from work adversely affect staffing, patient care, and the workload of other employees.
- d. Sick leave may not be used to extend vacation. Absences due to illness, which prevent an employee's return following vacation, shall be absences without pay unless medical substantiation is provided. Illness or injury while on vacation shall be charged to vacation.

ARTICLE 16 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 1.

- a. Upon request, a full-time or part-time employee who has completed their probationary period shall be eligible for the following leaves of absence:
 - 1. Military Pursuant to applicable law.
- b. Upon request, a full-time or part-time employee who has completed one (1) year of continuous service at the Hospital shall be eligible for the following leaves:
 - 1. Maternity or adoption pursuant to FMLA.
 - 2. Illness or Injury Up to twelve (12) months.
 - 3. Family Leave Pursuant to FMLA.
- c. A leave of absence for a period not to exceed one year shall be granted to employees with at least one year of seniority in order to accept a full-time position with the Union, provided such leaves will not interfere with the operation of the Hospital. Upon return to work, an employee shall be entitled to return to his/her former position if it is vacant or filled by a temporary employee. Otherwise, an employee shall be able to exercise the recall rights specified in this Agreement. At no time shall more than one employee be on leave of absence hereunder at the same time.
- d. A personal leave of absence of any employee may be approved by the Hospital for a period not in excess of thirty (30) days, and may be renewed upon application to the Hospital. The Hospital will hold the position for the thirty (30) day period. Thereafter, the employee may return to said position, if it remains

vacant or is filled by a temporary employee, otherwise the employee shall be able to exercise the recall rights specified in this Agreement.

e. With the approval of the Hospital, educational leaves to further professional growth and development shall be granted for a period up to twelve (12) months, provided such leaves will not interfere with the operation of the Hospital. Upon return to work an employee shall be entitled to return to his/her former position if it is vacant or filled by a temporary employee. Otherwise, an employee shall be able to exercise the recall rights specified in this Agreement.

Section 2.

- a. Employees will be required to submit a written request for leave, stating the reasons and, if known, the duration of the requested leave. If an employee is unsure of the duration of the requested leave, there still must be a duration of leave requested with a projected date of return so that the Hospital may evaluate the request and plan. Medical leave requires appropriate medical certification including the specific reasons for the need. The Hospital may require additional medical examination before or during leave. Medical information required by the Hospital for leaves of absence will be provided to Human Resources and considered confidential.
- b. Requests shall be submitted thirty (30) days prior to the inception of the leave, except in cases of emergency. Employees on medical leave because of their own illness or injury must use their accrued sick leave first. Employees shall then use accrued vacation leave but may reserve up to one (1) week of vacation accrual for use upon return from medical leave.
- c. An employee desiring an extension of any leave of absence up to the maximum outlined above shall submit a similar application as soon as possible but no later than ten (10)

work days (excluding Saturday and Sunday) before the scheduled expiration of the leave. The Hospital shall notify the employee of its decision on extending the leave within five (5) weekdays (excluding Holidays) of the receipt of the request, and prior to the expiration of the leave. Extension requests shall be considered on the same basis as original requests.

- d. Employees may not work elsewhere during period of leave. Should an employee be found to be working elsewhere, their employment will be terminated.
- e. Employees utilizing unpaid leave shall maintain uninterrupted seniority during authorized periods of leaves of absence consistent with Article 9. Employees do not earn holiday pay nor accrue sick leave or vacation credit during their leave of absence. Except as expressly provided by law, all accrued vacation or personal time shall first be used during leaves of absence for any other reason than the employee's own illness.

Section 3.

- a. Employees returning from leaves covered by the Family Medical Leave of three (3) months or less shall be placed by the Hospital in his or her same or equivalent position. Such position shall be in the same job classification, work shift, hours and specific work unit.
- b. Employees returning from a personal illness or injury leave of more than three (3) months shall be placed by the Hospital in his or her same, or an equivalent position if such position is vacant. If no such position is available on the date the employee is able to return to work, the employee will be able to exercise recall rights for six (6) months.
- c. Employees must speak to a representative from the Hospital's Human Resources Department a minimum of fourteen (14) calendar days prior to their expected date of return from the leave.

- d. Employees seeking to return from medical leave shall first provide the Hospital with a physician's certification that the employee may return without harm to the employee, coworkers or patients.
- e. It is acknowledged that employees on leave may, nevertheless, be subject to layoff based on their seniority.

Section 4.

- a. The Hospital will continue all regular insurance payments and deductions during the paid portion of any leave described above, defined as that period of leave during which the employee is receiving sick leave pay or vacation and excluding workers' compensation after the workers' compensation leave ceases to be considered under the FMLA.
 - b. Benefits during Leaves of Absence
 - FMLA Leaves Benefits continue during FML covered leaves. Employee deductions will continue while in paid status. For any portion of the leave that is unpaid, the employee contribution will go into arrears and will be deducted from the employee's pay upon the employee's return to work.
 - Unpaid Leaves Medical, Rx and Dental benefits continue to the end of the month during which the leave ceases to be considered under the FMLA or converts to an unpaid leave, whichever is later. The employee will be notified of the right to continue these benefits through COBRA. All other benefits cease as of the last day of work for which the employee is paid.

ARTICLE 17 PAID LEAVE

Section 1. Funeral Leave

- a. A full-time employee shall be granted up to four (4) days (eight (8) hours per day) (up to and including the day after burial) funeral leave with pay for absence necessary to attend the funeral of a member of the employee's immediate family. The following are considered members of an employee's immediate family: spouse, domestic partner, father, mother, child, sister, brother, and grandchild.
- b. A full-time employee shall be granted an absence of three (3) days (eight (8) hours) with pay for attendance at the funeral of a father-in-law, mother-in-law, or grandparent.
- c. A full-time employee shall be granted one (1) day (eight (8) hours) with pay for attendance at the funeral of the employee's sister-in law or brother-in law. The employee's supervisor shall be notified in advance before any such leaves are taken.

Section 2. Jury Duty

A full-time employee who is called to jury duty on a regularly scheduled workday shall be entitled to leave. Said employee shall be paid the difference between his/her regular pay and the compensation for jury duty received from a court up to eight (8) hours per day. To be compensated, employees must first contact their department manager for authorization at the time of service of the jury notice and required to present a statement issued and signed by the clerk of court stating the number of days the employee was on jury duty and the compensation paid.

Section 3.

Part-time employees are entitled to pro-rata funeral and jury duty leave.

ARTICLE 18 HEALTH/WELFARE

Section 1. Medical & Prescription

- (a) Upon enrollment at the Department of Human Resources, all active full time employees and their eligible dependents shall become eligible on the first day of the next month following their date of employment for a medical and prescription drug plan. Employees shall contribute to the cost of the selected health plan (including prescriptions) on a pre-tax basis for single or family coverage at the contribution rate determined for the selected plan as follows: TempleCare shall be ten percent (10%) of the monthly premium, Advantage Plan shall be twenty percent (20%) of the monthly premium, and High Option plan shall be twenty-five percent (25%) of the monthly premium. Plan rates are subject to change at the beginning of the plan year, each January 1. All new enrollees shall complete a Personal Health Profile as a condition of enrollment.
- (b) Current plan designs include TempleCare, Temple Advantage and High Option. Temple reserves the right to change the plan design; however in the event Temple chooses to change the plan design, it will provide options with comparable benefits to the plans identified above. Prior to the introduction of new plan designs, Temple will meet and discuss plan changes with the Union at least ninety (90) days prior to such changes, if so requested.
- (c) Employees and their eligible dependents enrolled in medical coverage shall be covered by a prescription drug plan where, subject to plan provisions and limitations, the employee co-pays equals fifteen percent (15%) towards the cost of generic prescription drugs, twenty percent (20%) towards the cost of

Brand Name drugs on the Performance Drug list, and thirty-five percent (35%) toward the cost of all other Brand Name drugs not on the Performance Drug list. Each covered employee and dependent is subject to a calendar year maximum of \$1,000 per person with a family maximum of \$2,500 per year. The Dispensed as Written Penalty shall not be considered a co-pay within the meaning of this article.

Section 2 - Part –Time Employees

(a) Except where otherwise indicated in this agreement, regular part-time employees hired at twenty (20) or more hours per week are eligible for the Temple benefit programs (medical and prescription, vision, dental) and shall pay the same biweekly contribution amount as full-time employees for single coverage, plus the difference between the premium for single and family coverage for employees electing family coverage for all benefits where family coverage is offered.

Section 3 - Life Insurance

- (a). Eligible members of the bargaining unit shall be given ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) in life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance (double indemnity in case of accidental death or dismemberment) at no cost to the member effective with the first day of the next month following their date of employment.
- (b). Eligible members of the bargaining unit shall be given the opportunity to purchase voluntary supplemental term life insurance at the prevailing rate equal to one and one-half (1½) times, two (2) times, three (3) times, four (4) times or five (5) times his/her base salary up to a maximum of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) in addition to the non-contributory life insurance. Such coverage shall be rounded up to the next thousand dollars. Amounts selected by the employee in excess of three (3) times salary or \$500,000 are subject to underwriting by the insurance company. Such coverage shall be rounded up to the next thousand

dollars. The amount of the additional coverage shall be increased automatically to take base salary increments into account on the effective date of such increments.

(c). Employees not currently enrolled in this program or employees requesting increases to the current level of coverage are subject to the insurability provisions when electing any amount of coverage.

Section 4 - Dental

Eligible employees and their legally dependent spouses and children may enroll in the TUHS Dental Program. The employee contribution for dental insurance shall be twenty-five percent (25%) of the premium of the coverage and plan elected on a pretax basis. Temple shall pay the remaining seventy-five percent (75%) of the premium. In the event Temple chooses to change the carrier it will maintain similar benefits to this plan.

Section 5 - Disability

- (a) Eligible employees may purchase long-term disability insurance to cover sixty percent (60%) of his/her monthly salary up to a maximum of benefit of \$15,000 per month following a 180-day elimination period.
- (b) If accepted by the insurance carrier for disability benefits payable under this program, Temple will maintain its core benefit programs (medical, prescription, basic life, dental, vision, and employer-sponsored pension) at no premium cost to the employee for the duration of disability payment. Per the terms of the policy, the duration of the disability payment shall be limited to the earlier of the determination that the employee is fit to resume gainful employment, retirement or the individual's normal Social Security retirement age.
- (c) The employee contribution for LTD coverage is based on base annual salary level; employees earning below \$40,000,

\$40,001 through \$60,000 and greater than \$60,000. The contribution will be determined based on the premium in effect on July 1 each year. The premiums are actuarially determined to maintain Temple cost of 50% of the total program.

Section 6 - Vision Care

Effective the first of the month following employment, eligible non-probationary bargaining unit employees shall be enrolled in the Temple Vision Care Program. Booklets explaining Vision Care benefits will be issued to employees.

Section 7 - Dependent Care & Flexible Spending Program

- (a) Flexible Spending Account: Pre-tax employee contributions for health care expenses up to \$2,500 annually
- (b) Dependent Care Spending Account: Pre-tax employee contributions for dependent care expenses up to \$5,000 annually.

Section 8 - Carrier Changes

Temple reserves the right to change carriers under this Article at any time. Prior to changing carriers, Temple will meet and discuss the change with the Union if so requested.

Section 9 - Compliance with Affordable Care Act

Temple will comply with the various provisions of the Patient Protection Affordable Care Act as it relates to part-time and pool employees, in general and specifically covered by this agreement. Temple shall calculate the "look-back" period each year to determine the employees deemed by the act to be eligible for medical/ prescription benefits. This look back period shall be the pay period that includes hours paid for the pay period coincident with or next following January 1 through the last pay date in October each year. If it is determined that Temple is in overall compliance with the Act without offering medical coverage to this

group in general, there shall be no obligation to offer the coverage to employees covered by this agreement.

If Temple must offer coverage to such employees, it shall not exclude employees covered by this agreement.

Employees deemed as eligible shall be so notified and have the opportunity to enroll during the normal open enrollment period with coverage effective January 1 following enrollment. Eligible employees have the same medical plan contributions as part-time employees.

Eligibility to remain in the plan will extend until the end of the next look back period as long as employee continues to earn wages that will cover the employee contributions. Employees without such earnings will be offered to continue coverage through COBRA.

Section 10 - Sickness and Accident

- a. Temple shall provide its Sickness and Accident plan of one hundred ninety dollars (\$190) per week for eighteen (18) weeks for employees who have completed one year of paid employment.
- <u>b.</u> Temple will continue to offer employees the opportunity to enroll in a voluntary short-term disability plan with one hundred percent (100%) payment from the employee through payroll deductions.

Section 11 - Local 5106 Health Trust Language

The Health Professionals and Allied Employees, AFT/AFL-CIO Retiree Medical Trust (the Trust) provides retiree medical expense reimbursement benefits to participants through its Medical Expense Reimbursement Plan (the Plan).

(a) Eligibility

(b) The Employer agrees to make contributions to the Trust as detailed below on Covered Employees, defined as follows: RNs, Techs and Professionals, who are benefits eligible.

(c) Section 3 Contributions

- A mandatory employer contribution of \$0.10 per paid hour for each Bargaining Unit Covered Employee on an ongoing biweekly basis, Effective the first full pay period of the second year of the contract.
- Paid hours shall reflect base compensation, including regular, vacation, sick and non-overtime hours worked up to, but not beyond eighty (80) hours per two week pay period.
 Paid hours do not include on-call time, preceptor differential, education hours, bonus payments and call-back hours.
- 3. The employer contributions to the Trust shall be due at the Trust office by the end of the month following the month for which the contribution is made.

(d) No Liability for the Employer or Union

1. No signatory party or Trustee, and no employer, employer association, labor organization, employee, or beneficiary shall be responsible for the liabilities or debts of the Trust

ARTICLE 19 PENSION PLAN AND TAX DEFERRED ANNUITY AND RETIREMENT

Section 1. Contributory Defined Contribution Retirement Plan

a. All eligible full-time and part-time employees will have the opportunity to participate in the Temple University Health System Defined Contribution Retirement Plan. Participation in this voluntary plan requires employees to contribute 4.5% of base wages. Temple will match the employee's

four and one-half percent (4.5%) contribution, in accordance with the following:

Years of Participation in Plan beginning on				
or after January 1, 2007 Contribution	<u>TUHS</u>			
Less than 3	4.5%			
At least 3 but less than 5	5.0%			
At least 5 but less than 7	6.5%			
7 or more	8.5%			

- b. Vesting for this plan is three (3) years of service where the employee has worked at least 1000 hours per year. Vesting credit received by employees under the Hospital's former plans or Temple University Health System retirement plans will be applied toward this plan.
- c. New full-time employees are eligible to participate in this plan on the first of the month following the employee's month of hire. Participation is contingent upon the employee's completion and delivery of the appropriate enrollment forms to the Human Resources office.
- d. Effective January 2017, all part-time employees scheduled twenty (20) hours or more per week are eligible to participate in this plan on the first of the month following the employee's month of hire. Participation is contingent upon the employee's completion and delivery of the appropriate enrollment forms to Human Resources.
- e. Part-time employees scheduled fewer than twenty (20) hours per week and pool may elect to contribute to this plan, however, Temple will make its contribution to part-time (scheduled fewer than twenty (20) hours per week) and pool employees accounts the following year as soon as administratively feasible once Temple certifies each eligible employee worked thousand (1000) hours.

Section 2. Tax Deferred Annuity Plan

The Voluntary Tax Deferred Annuity program shall remain in effect. The Union shall have access to all tax deferred annuity options available at Temple University Health System.

Section 3.

The Hospital reserves the right to change the Investment Providers and /or the investment options under the Temple University Health System Defined Contribution Retirement Plan as well as the Temple University Heath System, Inc. 403(b) Plan. The Hospital agrees to meet and discuss any changes with the Union prior to implementation if so requested.

ARTICLE 20 CONTINUING EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Section 1.

Employees shall be eligible for tuition remission/reimbursement in accordance with the TUHS Policy, which may be revised by TUHS from time to time. Changes to the policy shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement. The Hospital agrees to meet to discuss the changes prior to implementation of any changes.

Section 2.

Full-time employees may utilize, up to one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) over three (3) years to attend or access continuing education conferences including online CEU programs, seminars, and/or certification examination fees with proof of successfully passing. Such seminars, conferences or certification must be related to their clinical field and be approved by the Department manager and Department of Human

Resources. In no event shall the fiscal year expenditure exceed thirteen thousand five-hundred dollars (\$13,500). Employees must use vacation or personal time to attend.

The Hospital will make available the schedule of seminars within the Health System. If a seminar is available within the Health System, employees will not be reimbursed for outside seminars.

Section 3.

The Hospital shall continue to provide meaningful inservice education to all employees. When an employee is required to attend an in-service training, such employees shall be paid at their base rate. In the event in-service training is not provided on the evening or night shift, employees who are hired to work evenings or nights, will receive the applicable shift differential.

Section 4.

- a. Full-time RNs and Professionals who have successfully completed their probationary period shall be paid a certification allowance of two thousand dollars (\$2000.00) per year upon certification/re-certification in a clinical specialty, paid out at one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) every six (6) months. Part time RNs and non-benefit RNs and part-time Professionals who have successfully completed their probationary period shall be paid a certification allowance of one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) per year upon certification/re-certification in a clinical specialty, paid out at five hundred dollars (\$500.00) every six (6) months.
- b. The specialty certification must be germane to the nurse's/professional's assigned area of practice and be on the following list of certifications:

American Association of Critical Care Nursing Board of Certification of Emergency Nursing Addictions Nurse Certification American Nurses Credentialing Center
National Council for Therapeutic Recreation Certification:
NCTRC
MT-BC, Board Certified Music Therapist
Board Certified Art Therapist
Oncology Nursing Certification
Gastroenterology Registered Nurse Certification
Certified Allied Addiction Practitioner
Dance Movement Therapy Board Certification

If a new certification is added to a job as a requirement after the date of this Agreement, the Union and the Hospital will Meet and Discuss regarding the addition of such certification to the list of approved certifications above.

c. An allowance shall be limited to one (1) certification in one (1) area.

Section 5.

a. Staff nurses who serve as preceptors shall be compensated at a differential of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour while serving as preceptors. Where an insufficient number of employees in a department volunteer, the unit supervisor will select qualified employees to train and act as preceptors and precepting duties shall be assigned in reverse order of bargaining unit seniority on a rotating basis.

Preceptors assist in employee orientation and serve as clinical resource persons and role models for registered nurses.

- b. Staff nurses who serve as preceptors shall be compensated at a differential of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour while serving as preceptors.
- c. Episcopal Campus will develop a preceptor program for professionals. Preceptor shall be paid \$2.00 per hour for work

performed as a preceptor, effective the first full pay period of the first year of the contract.

d. Nurses who have acted as a preceptor or who have completed preceptor training may be requested to act as a preceptor. The Hospital may require nurses to attend preceptor training.

ARTICLE 21 HEALTH AND SAFETY AND VIOLENCE PREVENTION

Section 1.

a. The Employer and the Union recognize that patient and employee health and safety is of paramount importance, as part of a continuous effort to improve the safety and health of patients and employees.

The employer shall continue to maintain a safe and secure place to work (including the main hospital, outpatient clinic, MAB, the Tower building, and parking areas) for its employees, patients, and visitors. The employer agrees to promptly investigate all non-operational hazards and unsafe conditions, including but not limited to violent assaults, threats of violence toward employees.

The Employer shall observe and comply with local, state and federal health and safety laws and regulations. The Employer will provide and maintain a safe and healthy workplace free of recognized hazards.

The employer will offer appropriate personal protective equipment during a pandemic emergency related to an airborne or droplet spread pathogen.

b. Random drug testing will be conducted annually up to ten (10%) percent of the employees in accordance with the TUHS Drug and Alcohol Policy, which may be revised by TUHS from time to time Collection procedure will be conducted through

the designated Episcopal Campus Occupational Health Office. Labor Relations will advise the Union, upon request but not more frequent than quarterly, of the number of tests conducted.

The parties agree that any changes pertaining to random drug testing is subject to bargaining prior to implementation of any changes. The only matters subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure of this Agreement is a claim by the Union on behalf of a discharged employee that the results were not valid. If the matter proceeds to arbitration in accordance with Article 23, then, the only question that shall be determined by the arbitrator is the fact of the validity of the test causing the termination. If the test is valid then the arbitrator shall sustain the action of Temple.

Section 2. Violence Prevention

- a. The Employer will continue its practice in responding to Stat 13 calls.
- b. Within sixty (60) days of the ratification of this Agreement, the Joint Health and Safety/Violence Prevention Committee shall be instituted and will convene the first meeting.
- c. The committee will include three (3) nurses from the RNs bargaining unit and three (3) representatives from the Tech bargaining unit, all as designated by the Union. Additional employees representing management and non-HPAE represented employees may be included. Time spent in committee meetings shall be considered time worked. The committee shall meet up to twelve (12) times per year.

Additional staff members may be invited to address specific agenda items affecting their unit or specialty. The committee shall be chaired by a HPAE member and another committee member representing management. If the committee meeting occurs during the staff members' regular shift, The

Employer will make reasonable efforts to release employees from work for the purposes of the meeting.

One week prior to the scheduled meeting, the Union and the Employer will submit an anticipated agenda to each other.

- d. This shall be a collaborative forum to discuss health and safety risks, hazards, incidents and the overall health and safety of the patients and the employees. Violence Prevention Topics: The committee shall review incidents, identification of risk factors, strategies for risk reduction and abatement, protective equipment, hazards, security and safety updates, education and training for employees, reporting and record keeping, and review monthly trends. The committee shall not be limited to the above items for discussion.
- e. The employer agrees to have one (1) bargaining unit member from each of the bargaining units attend the Temple Health System Workplace Violence Committee meetings in order to represent the needs of the staff and patients at the Episcopal Campus. Time spent in committee meetings shall be considered time worked.

Section 3. Joint Health and Safety Committee

- a. There shall be a Joint Health and Safety Committee composed of two (2) representatives from the Union, and two (2) representatives from the Hospital.
- b. One (1) week prior to the scheduled meeting, the parties shall exchange their agenda items via email. Committee members will be afforded time, with no loss of pay, during their work day to attend such meetings.
- c. The committee shall address issues related to the health and safety of the employees. The Committee will

participate in in the development of health and safety programs for the staff, review and identify hazards, participate in the investigation of health and safety problems and identify remedial actions.

Section 4. Violence Prevention

The employer shall continue to develop and implement programs to prevent violence against staff.

- Continue to provide educational opportunities, including but not limited to identifying potential violent situations, deescalating violence and assaultive behaviors by patients and others. The employer agrees to take the necessary steps to prevent and respond effectively to violent situations.
- 2. The employer shall continue to provide support and assistance to any employee who wishes to file complaints against patients or visitors who engage in assaults or other criminal behavior toward them.

Any employee who is absent from work because of being a victim of workplace violence shall be given up to one (1) week paid leave. The appropriate length of leave will be determined by occupational health.

ARTICLE 22 PERSONNEL PRACTICES

Section 1. Infractions

Disciplines up to and including written warnings shall be cleared from an employee's file after one year, provided that the one year shall be free of infractions.

Section 2. Personnel Evaluations

Any employee whose job performance or conduct becomes subject to evaluation shall have the right to participate in a review of such evaluation. Evaluation of an employee shall be performed by his/her immediate supervisor and signed by the employee. Such signature shall signify only that the evaluation has been reviewed with the employee and shall not indicate concurrence in the content of the evaluation.

Section 3. Access to Personnel Files

Any employee and/or the Union, with the employee's written consent, shall have the right to review the contents of the employee's personnel file to determine any matter affecting such employee; however, the foregoing shall not apply to any preemployment materials. Material deemed to be derogatory toward an individual's performance or conduct shall not be placed in the personnel file without being shown to the individual involved.

Notice to review such files shall be given by the employee or the Union in writing to the Hospital and the files shall be made available by the Hospital within four (4) working days after receipt of such notice. The Union agrees not to utilize this right in an abusive or excessive manner.

Section 4.

In addition to notifying the affected employee the Hospital agrees to promptly (within seventy-two hours (72) notify the Union in writing of the suspension or discharge of an employee.

ARTICLE 23 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Section 1.

- a. A grievance is defined as any dispute or difference concerning the application, interpretation or a claimed violation of an express provision of the Agreement. Every attempt shall be made by both parties to resolve grievances arising under this section speedily and informally. The filing of a grievance shall not foreclose ongoing or other informal discussions or resolutions.
- b. Upon request, employees shall have the right to representation or accompaniment by a union representative during any meeting invoking discipline, or to any investigatory meeting which might result in the imposition of discipline to the employee. Employees may not necessarily be able to wait for or select a particular representative.
- c. Grievance meetings requiring the attendance of the Local Representatives will be scheduled at a time convenient to all parties involved if reasonably possible. Section 2.
- a. Within ten (10) working days of the occurrence of the alleged incident or circumstance, the employee or union representative shall present the grievance in writing to the office of Director of Human Resources, which shall then be assigned a grievance number, which will then be forwarded to the office of the Department Head or their designee. The written grievance must include (1) a statement of the action being grieved; (2) reference to the relevant Article(s) of the Collective Bargaining Agreement alleged to have been violated; and (3) the remedy or relief sought.
- b. A meeting between the grievant or grievants, the union representative and the Department Head be held within five (5) working days from the presentation of the grievance, and a written decision issued by the divisional manager within ten (10) days from the conclusion of meeting.

Section 3.

- a. If a satisfactory settlement of the grievance is not reached in Step 1, the grievance may be appealed to the office of the Director of Human Resources. Said appeal should be made within five (5) working days from the date of the receipt by the grievant(s) of the Step 1 decision or the date upon which the decision is due.
- b. The Director of Human Resources or their designee shall convene a meeting with the grievant(s) and the union representative within five (5) working days from the date of the receipt of the grievance appeal, and shall render a decision/response to the grievant(s) and the Union within five (5) working days of the presentation of the grievance at the grievance meeting.

Section 4.

Should the Union be dissatisfied with the hospital's decision/response to the grievance at Step 2, the grievance may be submitted to arbitration by the Union within thirty (30) calendar days from the receipt of the written response from the Step 2 meeting or the date upon which the decision is due. The Hospital will grant an additional 30 day extension if requested. An arbitrator will be appointed through the American Arbitration Association under its Voluntary Arbitration Rules.

Section 5.

a. Each party shall be responsible for the expenses of its witnesses or others selected or called by a party for arbitration. Expenses incurred in the payment of fees to an impartial arbitrator shall be divided equally between the parties to this Agreement. The parties shall share the cost of the transcript for the arbitrator. The Hospital shall make every reasonable effort

to reschedule any employee called as a witness in any arbitration hearing in order that said witness shall have continuity of income.

- b. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on both parties.
- c. The arbitrator is limited by the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no power to add to, subtract from, modify, amend, or in any way change any of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall not have jurisdiction to hear more than one (1) grievance, and shall not have jurisdiction with respect to probationary employees.
- d. The parties agree that serious forms of employee misconduct such as insubordination, theft, falsification of records, or other forms of serious misconduct are traditionally causes of discipline, including termination, which is rendered without need for prior discipline. The parties agree that employees who engage in serious misconduct are an unfair burden on the Hospital, its patients and the employee's peers.
- e. If the discharge of an employee results from conduct relating to a patient and the patient does not appear at the arbitration, the arbitrator shall not consider the failure of the patient to appear as prejudicial. Further, the patient's initial statements (written or as reported) to the Hospital are agreed to be admissible in the hearing.

Section 6

a. Any written decision, or written answer to a grievance made at any step which is not appealed to the succeeding step of the grievance procedure within the time limits provided, or such additional period of time as may be mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties to this Agreement, shall be considered a final settlement, and such settlement shall be binding upon the grievant(s) and the parties to this Agreement.

- b. Failure of any party to abide by the time limits set forth in the grievance procedure shall give the grieving party the right to submit the grievance directly to the next step of the procedure.
- c. A grievance, which affects a substantial number class or employees, or in the case of suspension or terminations may initially be presented at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

Section 7.

All time limits herein specified shall be deemed to be exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and holidays.

ARTICLE 24 RESIGNATION

Section 1.

Employees shall give four (4) weeks notice of resignation, if feasible, and in no event less than three (3) weeks.

Section 2.

An employee who gives such notice of resignation as provided above or whose employment is terminated, shall be entitled to receive payment for unused vacation time earned on the effective date of the resignation. If notice is not given as provided above, an employee shall not be entitled to such payment, provided it was physically possible for the employee to have given such notice. Employees may not use sick leave during the period of resignation notice.

ARTICLE 25 SEPARABILITY

This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws now or hereafter in effect; and to the lawful regulations, rulings and orders or regulatory commissions or agencies having jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is in contravention of the laws or regulations of the United States or of the State of Pennsylvania, such provision shall be superseded by the appropriate provision of such law or regulation, so long as same is in force and effect; but all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 26 PAST PRACTICES

All past practices are hereby eliminated, except as specifically incorporated in the Agreement. Notwithstanding this provision, the Union does not waive the right to grieve the unilateral modification of, nor does the Employer waive its right to maintain, a clearly established past practice affecting the terms and conditions of employment of bargaining unit employees. This provision shall not affect Management Rights under Article 2 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 27 MEET AND DISCUSS

Section 1.

The parties agree that each will conform to the Meet and Discuss provisions of Act 195.

Section 2. Labor Management Committee

Establish a Joint Labor Management Committee. The committee shall consist of a minimum of two (2) representatives from the Union and a minimum of two (2) representatives from the Hospital. The committee shall meet monthly to discuss mutual

problems and concerns to the Union and the Hospital. The discussions shall include staffing, reviewing and making recommendations regarding patient care.

One (1) week prior to the scheduled meeting, the parties shall exchange their agenda items via email. Committee members will be afforded time, with no loss of pay, during their work day to attend such meetings.

Section 3.

The provisions of this article are not subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the agreement

ARTICLE 28 SUCCESSORSHIP

In order to further ensure stability and continuity of care, TUH shall require as a condition of any merger or sale of Temple University Hospital that the prospective acquirer or merging entity make a written commitment to recognize the Union (HPAE) and assume the contracts. TUH agrees that no sale or merger may proceed without such written guarantees. TUH will make reasonable efforts to provide the Union with notice 60 days prior to the closing date.

ARTICLE 29 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from March 1, 2024, and shall remain in effect until and including February 28, 2027, and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter unless and until either of the parties hereto shall give the other parties notice in accordance with the applicable law, but in no event less than sixty (60) days notice prior to the end of any subsequent year, of an intention to

terminate the contract at the end of the term or at the end of the then current year.

In the event that the parties are unable to reach agreement prior to the expiration of this Agreement the Union agrees to provide the Hospital with written notice consistent with the National Labor Relations Act prior to initiating any strike activity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed these presents as of the day and year first above written.

HEALTH PROFESSIONALS AND ALLIED EMPLOYEES	TEMPLE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL –EPISCOPAL CAMPUS		
/s/ Debbie White President, HPAE /s/ Christopher Lewis, Local 5160	/s/ John Lasky, Vice President, CHRO Human Resources TUHS		
President	/s/ Cheryl DeVose, VP Employee/Labor Relations, TUH		
/s/ Venus Weaver, HPAE VP	/s/ Albert D'Attilio, Director, Employee/Labor Relations,		
/s/ Michael Wilson. VP	TUH		
/s/ Zein Hassanein. VP	/s/ Chaudron Carter-Short, Chief Nursing Executive		
	/s/ Richard Miller, Chief Nursing Officer		
	/s/ Jeanine Penn, Director Nursing Services		
	/s/ Luciano Rasi, Director Behavioral Health		
	/s/ Kelly Kulp, Director, Care Management		
	/s/ Fred Berger, VP, Benefits & Pension Administration		
	/s/ Lee Hasselbach, VP Compensation		

APPENDIX A-1: REGISTERED NURSE WAGE SCALE

RN EXPERIENCE YEARS	Pay Period including March 1, 2024 2.5%	Pay Period including March 1, 2025 2.75%	Pay Period including March 1, 2026 3.0%
0 - 1	\$44.79	\$46.02	\$47.40
1 - 2	\$46.58	\$47.86	\$49.30
2 - 3	\$47.58	\$48.89	\$50.36
3 - 4	\$48.60	\$49.94	\$51.44
4 - 6	\$50.29	\$51.67	\$53.22
6 - 10	\$52.33	\$53.77	\$55.38
10 - 15	\$55.71	\$57.24	\$58.96
15 - 20	\$57.09	\$58.66	\$60.42
20 - 25	\$58.18	\$59.78	\$61.57
25 -30	\$59.02	\$60.64	\$62.46
30+	\$59.61	\$61.25	\$63.09

APPENDIX A-2: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH THERAPIST & BHCM/SOCIAL WORKER WAGE SCALE

POSITION	GRADE	EXPERIENCE	1st Pay Period including March 1, 2024 2.5%	1st Pay Period including March 1, 2025 2.75%	1st Pay Period including March 1, 2026 3.0%
Behavioral Health Therapist	Q15	0 < 2 years	\$ 30.12	\$ 30.95	\$ 31.88
Drug and Alcohol Assessor		2 years < 7 years	\$ 31.45	\$ 32.31	\$ 33.28
Drug and Alcohol Counselor		7 years < 12 years	\$ 34.16	\$ 35.10	\$ 36.15
Discharge Planner Behav Hlth		12 years < 17 years	\$ 34.78	\$ 35.74	\$ 36.81
		17 years +	\$ 35.37	\$ 36.34	\$ 37.43
Lead Behav Hlth Therapist	Q16	0 < 2 years	\$ 32.23	\$ 33.12	\$ 34.11
		2 years < 7 years	\$ 33.65	\$ 34.58	\$ 35.62
		7 years < 12 years	\$ 36.55	\$ 37.56	\$ 38.69
		12 years < 17 years	\$ 37.21	\$ 38.23	\$ 39.38
		17 years +	\$ 37.85	\$ 38.89	\$ 40.06
Behavioral Health Ther Coord	Q17	N/A	\$ 35.96	\$36.95	\$ 38.06
BHCM/Social Worker	Q18	0 < 2 years	\$ 36.20	\$ 37.20	\$ 38.32

Social Worker II		2 years < 7 years	\$ 38.20	\$ 39.25	\$ 40.43
		7 years < 12 years	\$ 40.25	\$ 41.36	\$ 42.60
		12 years < 17 years	\$ 40.88	\$ 42.00	\$ 43.26
		17 years +	\$ 41.47	\$ 42.61	\$ 43.89
Lead BHCM/Social Worker*	Q19	0 < 2 years			
		2 years < 7 years	\$ 40.88	\$ 42.00	\$ 43.26
		7 years < 12 years	\$ 43.07	\$ 44.25	\$ 45.58
		12 years < 17 years	\$ 43.74	\$ 44.94	\$ 46.29
		17 years +	\$ 44.37	\$ 45.59	\$ 46.96

APPENDIX B NON-BENEFIT RN AGREEMENT

Upon ratification of the Agreement, non-benefit bargaining unit positions shall be subject to the terms of the collective bargaining agreement except with respect to the following conditions:

- 1. Non-Benefit RNs must agree to work at least thirty-six (36) hours per week and must, following orientation, be competent to work in the assigned unit/units.
- 2. Non-Benefit RNs shall be paid at the "25+ experience years" wage rate in accordance with Appendix A. Shift differential and weekend differential shall be paid in accordance with Article 11, Section 2 and 3 as applicable.
- 3. Non-Benefit RNs shall not receive paid vacation, sick time, holidays or any other paid leave. However, in addition to any unpaid leave entitlement under FMLA, Non-Benefit RNs may take up to three (3) weeks unpaid leave per year without having to make up lost time.
- 4. Non-Benefit RNs shall receive no health, welfare, or other benefits except for those benefits which are required by law.
- 5. Non-Benefit RNs are entitled to the certification bonus paid to part-time employees. They are not eligible for employee tuition remission/reimbursement.
- 6. Non-Benefit RNs may be hired to work full time in a designated unit or in a float capacity. Float nurses will be reassigned to other units before unit based nurses. Unit based Non-Benefit RNs will be reassigned in the same manner as other nurses in the unit.
- 7. Benefit-eligible RNs may apply to change their status to a Non-Benefit status but must remain in a Non-Benefit status for one year. Non-Benefit RNs may request to change to a benefit-

eligible status. If a Non-Benefit RN changed to a benefit-eligible status, they are no longer governed by this Agreement. RNs who change from Non-Benefit status to benefit-eligible status must remain in a benefit-eligible status for one year before being able to apply again for a non-benefit position.

- 8. Non-Benefit RNs will be scheduled to work in accordance with the terms of the collective bargaining agreement and the requirements for all RNs on the unit.
- 9. Non-Benefit RNs will receive time and one half of their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- 10. All other terms of the collective bargaining agreement shall apply.

11. Non-Benefit RN

Employees in a non-benefit position as of the date of ratification of the Agreement shall be paid in accordance with the following scale:

APPENDIX B: NON-BENEFIT RN AGREEMENT ·For Non-Benefit RNs hired before 2/20/2010

	1st Pay after ratification- 2020 2.50%		1st Pay Period w/ March 1, 2021 2.75%		1st Pay Period w/ March 1, 2022 3.00%	
	ED	PSYCH	ED	PSYCH	ED	PSYCH
WEEKDAY DAY	\$63.14	\$57.49	\$64.88	\$59.07	\$66.83	\$60.84
WEEKDAY EVE/NIGHT	\$67.14	\$61.49	\$68.88	\$63.07	\$70.83	\$64.84
WEEKEND DAY	\$67.14	\$61.49	\$68.88	\$63.07	\$70.83	\$64.84
WEEKEND EVE/NIGHT	\$71.14	\$65.49	\$72.88	\$67.07	\$74.83	\$68.84

Appendix C

BI-WEEKLY VACATION ACCRUAL

Accruals will be prorated for employees hired between 20 and 40 hours

per week

	If you work	If you work	If you work	If you work	If you work
	40hr/wk	36 hr/wk	32 hr/wk	24 hr/wk	20hr/wk
	Bi weekly accrual is	Bi weekly accrual is	Biweekly accrual is	Bi weekly accrual is	Biweekly accrual is
RN/Professionals/Techs with 8 years of seniority 4 weeks vacation	6.16 hours	5.54 hours	4.92hours	3.69 hours	3.08hours
RN/Professionals/Techs with less than 8 years of seniority	4.62 hours	4.15 hours	3.69hours	2.77 hours	2.31hours
3 weeks vacation					

MAXIMUM VACATION ACCRUAL

An employee may accumulate a maximum of one and a half times the

employee's annual entitlement

If you work	If you	If you work	If you work	If you
40	work	32	24 hr/week	work
hr/week	36	hr/week		20
	hr/week			Hr/week
Maximum accrual is	Maximum accrual is	Maximum accrual is	Maximum accrual is	Maximum accrual is:
240 hours	216 hours	192hours	144 hours	120hours
180hours	162 hours	144hours	108 hours	90hours
	40 hr/week Maximum accrual is 240 hours	hr/week 36 hr/week Maximum accrual is 240 hours 216 hours	40 work 32 hr/week Maximum accrual is Maximum accrual is 240 hours 216 hours 192hours	40 work 32 hr/week Maximum accrual is 192hours 144 hours

Non-Benefit RNs Hired 2/21/2010 and beyond will be

* paid the 25+ yrs RN rate with differentials as per contract.

LETTERS OF AGREEMENT

In accordance with the negotiated Collective Bargaining Agreement the following has been agreed to:

1. Fair Share

The non-dues paying members as of the September 5, 2006 of this Agreement will be grandfathered and exempt from the Fair Share requirements of the Agreement thereafter. New employees hired after the September 5, 2006 of the Agreement will be subject to fair share when all fair share procedures are complete. New employees will not be subject to retro payments.

2. Wage Review

At the request of either party, the parties agree to meet and review the wage rates in the bargaining unit. Such reviews are not required more frequently than once per year.

3. Sickness and Accident

The sickness and accident payment provided in Article 18 shall not be adversely affected by any employee's private insurance.

4. Weekend Differential

Employees hired prior to the ratification of the Agreement (February 19, 2010) shall continue to receive a weekend differential of four dollars (\$4.00) per hour for all hours worked between 11:00 pm on Friday and 7:30 am on Monday.

5. Vacation Accrual

A social worker or behavioral therapist who is earning vacation in excess of the vacation accruals noted in Article 14,

Vacation, Section 1, as of February 4, 2011 shall retain his/her current vacation accrual rates.

6. Shift Hour Change

If the majority of employees on a particular unit or shift express a desire to change their current shift hours, for example change from eight (8) hour shift to a twleve (12) hour shift, then, upon notification from the union, the employer will meet and discuss the possibility of changing such shifts as well as the details of the shift hour changes. It is understood that the employer , in this case, has the sole discretion to approve such request.

7. Professional Recognition in Developing Excellence (Pride Program)

The parties agree that the role of the clinical nurse is critical to world class patient care. For this reason, the parties agree to provide a structure of advancement for professional nurses who choose to stay in a clinical role at the bedside. The program, named by the nurses through an electronic survey, is known as the PRIDE Program - Professional Recognition in Developing Excellence. The PRIDE Program provides advancement to three levels commensurate with increased responsibility and expertise. Staff registered nurses who meet all of the following criteria are eligible to apply to one of three levels of the PRIDE Program:

- Spend at least 50% of their time in direct patient care
- Worked at least 1000 hours in the twelve months before application to the program
- Have no active disciplines in the twelve months before application to the program

In addition to educational requirements, the PRIDE program levels require evidence of specific activities in the

following categories: teaching/mentorship, research, evidenced based practice, professional practice and community outreach.

The program has three levels that clinical nurses can choose to submit an application for, when expectations of that level are met. A clinical nurse is eligible to apply to any level in the ladder for which they are meeting the expectations. Appointment to a level is valid for 2 years. Requalification to the level is necessary every two years. The three levels are based on the work of Patricia Benner's Stages of Clinical Competence: Competent, Proficient, and Expert.

The compensation for the levels is an annual bonus payment:

•	Competent	\$1,000
•	Proficient	\$1,500
•	Expert	\$2,000

The PRIDE Program is not intended to supersede any bonus or incentives currently in place under contract.

8. Staffing

The Employer and the Union agree that in any patient care situation, patient safety and quality care is of utmost importance and must be insured for the benefit of the patient, the staff and the hospital.

Recognizing the importance of staffing levels for the provision of patient safety and care, the Employer agrees that there should be an appropriate number of staff in all units and departments on each shift. In determining staffing requirements for a clinical area, the Employer will, at all times consider patient safety, patient acuity, the skill mix of the staff, and the unit census. All of the above factors will be considered when assignments are made. It is also recognized that these factors are

dynamic and the input of the unit charge person will be considered in determining unit activity.

The Hospital shall post the current staffing guidelines on all units. Subject to staff availability and emergencies, the Hospital shall follow such guidelines. The Hospital retains the right to modify the guidelines, but any such modification shall be posted in the applicable unit and the basis for such modifications shall be discussed with the Union and the Labor Management Committee as soon as practicable.

9. Uniform Allowance

Employees who are required to wear a uniform to work shall be allowed to purchase three (3) approved uniforms through the Uniform Program System.

Ratified by membership of Local 5106 Health Professionals and Allied Employees; AFT/AFL-CIO, December 1, 2023.